THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

FEB 11 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal From The Administrative Law Court
Honorable H.W. Funderburk, Jr., III, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001473

JOSEPH KELSEY, # 217218.....APPELLANT,

V.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF
PROBATION, PAROLE AND PARDON SERVICES RESPONDENT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

HANNAH FREEDMAN #103373

MEGAN BARNES #104368

Justice 360
900 Elmwood Ave., Ste. 200
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 765-1044
hannah@justice360sc.org
megan@justice360sc.org

JOHN H. BLUME #747

Cornell Law School
159 Charles Evans Hughes Hall
Ithaca, NY 14853
(607) 255-1030
jb94@cornell.edu

JON OZMINT #7107

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Administrative Law Court's (ALC) subject-matter jurisdiction confers on the ALC the authority to reverse a parole denial when, as the Supreme Court of South Carolina has held, doing so would require the Board to grant parole to a specific person?
2. Whether this Court must reverse a decision of the ALC affirming a parole denial where the Administrative Law Court found that the Parole Board's decision was the result of unconstitutional, arbitrary, capricious, and procedurally defective process?
3. Whether the Parole Board exceeded its statutory authority and intruded on the judicial function when it substituted its opinion, based on a factual summary that the Board refuses to disclose, about the codefendants' relative culpability in connection with the nature and seriousness of the offense, for the findings of the Supreme Court of South Carolina?
4. Must the Parole Board give putative parolees access to their parole files in order to ensure that they have an opportunity to "notify the Board" of "errors or other inaccuracy," as guaranteed by the Department's own policy?

INTRODUCTION

Twenty-five years ago, sixteen-year-old Joe Kelsey was convicted of murder and sentenced to life imprisonment with the possibility of parole. His codefendants, Geoffrey Payne and Jamie Lee, were sentenced to life imprisonment with the possibility of parole and ten years, respectively. Of the three codefendants, Joe—who has a remarkable and uncontroverted record of rehabilitation—is the only one still incarcerated. His continued incarceration is, as the Administrative Law Court (ALC) found below, the product of a decision-making process that was “logically and legally absurd” and infected with “untrue assertions of fact and improper argument” and that produced a “decision that is arbitrary and capricious.” R. 170, 174. Nevertheless, despite finding serious error in both the *process* employed by the South Carolina Board of Pardons and Paroles (the Board) and *outcome* of that process, the ALC concluded, “reluctantly,” that it could not reverse the Board’s parole denial because “the Board has the sole authority to grant or deny parole and does so in [sic] a case by case basis.” R. 174. Although the ALC’s factual findings at this stage of review are entitled to great deference, its legal conclusion—that it lacks the power to remedy serious statutory and constitutional violations by the Board—requires reversal and this Court should now order the ALC or the Board to hold a new parole hearing at which the Board will have only one option that is not arbitrary and capricious: release Joe on parole. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts of the crime and the relative culpabilities of the three codefendants—Lee, Payne, and Joe—are at the crux of this appeal. Lee, Payne’s best friend, testified for the

prosecution in exchange for a reduced sentence of ten years; he has been free for well over a decade. As Joe explained in his briefing below, and as the ALC confirmed, the Supreme Court of South Carolina has twice determined that the evidence “overwhelmingly prove[d]” that Payne, the oldest of the three and the ringleader, was responsible for the victim’s death. *See Payne v. State*, 355 S.C. 642, 586 S.E.2d 857 (2003); *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 59-60, 502 S.E.2d 63, 67 (1998) (describing the trial evidence); *see also* R. 169 (“The only significant differences between Payne and [Joe] derive from their respective roles in the crime. [Joe] made pipe bombs and placed one of them in the mouth of the victim, whom he thought to be deceased. Payne choked and struck the victim with a wrench, raped her or had sex with her corpse, and lit the fuse that detonated the pipe bomb.”).¹ In March 2019, the Board paroled Payne, leaving Joe the last codefendant incarcerated. Then, when Joe went up for parole in November 2019, the Board denied him by a vote of 3-2 *in favor* of parole.² The two “no votes” were based on one and one reason only: the nature and seriousness of the offense. R. 168.

¹ As is described in greater detail below, and as the ALC found, Joe and a group of other boys were making pipe bombs earlier in the day and using them to blow holes in the backyard. R. 163. When Joe got in a car with Payne, Lee, and the victim, he was under the impression that they were going to—at worst—blow up a mailbox, and by Lee’s own account, when Joe realized that Payne had killed the victim, he was so paralyzed by fear that he “curled up into a ball[] in the front seat of the car.” R. 125 (portion of a transcript from Joe’s waiver hearing in family court).

² At Joe’s hearing—but not at Payne’s—only five of the six members of the Board were present. Because the Board’s internal rules require that an offender in Joe’s position receive “yes votes” from at least two-thirds of the members of the Board present in order to get parole, Joe would have needed “yes votes” from four members. *See* S.C. Board of Pardons & Paroles, Parole Board Manual at 28 (Nov. 2019). Because he only had three yes votes (60%) instead of the required two-thirds (67%), Joe remains incarcerated while Payne and Lee are free.

Joe appealed to the ALC. The court, by written order, agreed with Joe's legal arguments and presentation of the facts. Nevertheless, after concluding that the Board's decision to deny Joe parole "based exclusively on facts that cannot change, is effectively a denial of the inmate's eligibility for parole," and despite finding that the Board's decision was "arbitrary and capricious," the product of a process that was "taint[ed]" by "untrue assertions of fact and improper argument," the ALC "reluctantly" denied Joe relief because it concluded it lacked the authority to grant relief. R. 173-74. The ALC's order, as the final agency decision, therefore "prejudiced" Joe's "substantial rights" and was made "in violation of constitutional . . . provisions"; was "in excess of [the agency's] authority"; was made "upon unlawful procedure"; was "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record"; and was "arbitrary and capricious." *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B).

The ALC order makes three things clear: (1) according to the agency that oversees the Board, the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services (PPP), the Board has license to act arbitrarily and capriciously, without any oversight and without ever offering any "rationale as to [the Board's] reasons or reasoning for the denial," so long as a notice of parole denial recites one of the statutory parole factors, *see* R. 150; (2) without judicial oversight, the Board will continue to violate the rights of putative parolees and the ALC will continue to rubberstamp the Board's decisions based on a misapprehension of the scope of the ALC's jurisdiction; and, (3) absent judicial intervention, PPP and the ALC will further erode the judicial branch by making findings

directly contrary to those of the Supreme Court of South Carolina because, in the words of PPP, “[t]he Supreme Court’s findings are not relevant” to parole decisions, R. 151.

I. Evidence of the Offense as Presented at Trial and to the Parole Board

On July 10, 1994, a group of teenagers got together to hang out and drink beer at the house where Joe was temporarily staying. Among the teenagers gathered were Payne and Lee, neither of whom Joe knew well, and both of whom were older than Joe. Around midnight, Payne and Lee went to a nearby Texaco station where they found fifteen-year-old Melanie Richey, alone and limping. *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 58-59, 502 S.E.2d at 67. They struck up a conversation with her, learned that she had cut her foot sneaking out of her house, and offered to take her with them to clean up the wound. *Id.* at 59, 502 S.E.2d at 67. Melanie agreed. When they got to the party, Payne “repeatedly tried to coax [Melanie] into having sexual intercourse with him. [She] refused Payne’s advances.” *Id.* Payne was frustrated—he told Lee “he was so mad he could kill [Melanie]”—so the two boys laced her drink with ecstasy, an illegal drug known to “encourage unsafe sexual behavior.”³ *Id.* During all this, Joe was listening to music by himself. *Id.*

At around 3:30 AM, after the other teenagers had fallen asleep, Melanie asked for a ride home. *Id.* Payne and Lee invited Joe to go along for the drive. Payne told Joe to bring some explosives the boys had made earlier in the day, which Joe “assumed Payne wanted to [use to] blow up mail boxes,” as the boys had been playing with them in the backyard earlier that day. *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50 at 59 n.1, 502 S.E.2d at 67. Unbeknownst to Joe, Payne

³ See Nat’l Inst. on Drug Abuse, *Drug Facts: MDMA (Ecstasy/Molly)*, <https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/mdma-ecstasy-molly> (rev. June 2018).

also told Lee to bring “something to knock [Melanie] out with.” *Id.* at 59, 502 S.E.2d at 67.

The four got into Lee’s car, with Lee driving, Joe in the passenger’s seat, and Payne and Melanie in the back. *Id.* “[T]he music was ‘obscenely’ loud,” and Lee “was going about 90 m.p.h.” when Lee noticed Melanie’s foot had kicked the gear into neutral. *Id.* at 59-60, 502 S.E.2d at 67. He “turned around and saw that Payne had [Melanie] in a ‘strangle hold type position.’” *Id.* at 60, 502 S.E.2d at 68. He said nothing, but “[a] few minutes later, Lee heard “two quick, empty thud type sounds,” *id.*, as Payne hit Melanie “twice on the head with a wrench,” *Payne*, 355 S.C. at 645, 586 S.E.2d at 859. Payne had kept her in a strangle-hold throughout. *Id.* at 60, 502 S.E.2d at 67-68. Melanie “was limp, her face was pale, and her lips were blue.” *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 60, 502 S.E.2d at 68. Payne announced that Melanie was “knocked out,” *id.*, “she’s not breathing. I think I’ve killed her,” R. 121. According to Lee, Joe “curled into a ball[] up in the front seat of the car.” R. 125. Payne told Lee to pull over. *Payne*, 355 S.C. at 645-46, 586 S.E.2d at 859; *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 59, 502 S.E.2d at 67.

Lee believed Melanie was unconscious but alive. *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 60, 502 S.E.2d at 68. Joe, who had CPR training, checked her pulse as soon as they got out of the car and was confident she was dead. *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 60, 502 S.E.2d at 68; R. 121. Payne “had sexual intercourse” with her body. *Payne*, 355 S.C. at 645-46, 586 S.E.2d at 859. Afterwards, the boys carried Melanie’s body into the woods and Payne “instructed [Joe] to place a pipe bomb into [her] mouth.” *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 60, 502 S.E.2d at 68. Joe, afraid of Payne after watching him rape and kill Melanie, complied with Payne’s demand. “Payne

then lit the fuse, and the two ran.” *See id.* When police recovered Melanie’s body, enough time had passed that it was impossible for the coroner to conclusively identify how Payne killed her.⁴ R. 118.

Joe was subsequently arrested, and because he was a juvenile, he appeared in Family Court. Due to the seriousness of the charges, his case was transferred from Family Court to the Court of General Sessions where he was tried jointly with Payne. *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 61, 502 S.E.2d at 68. Lee testified against Payne and Joe in exchange for a reduced sentence of ten years. His testimony confirmed that Payne murdered Melanie.⁵ *Id.* at 60, 502 S.E.2d at 68; *Payne*, 355 S.C. at 646, 586 S.E.2d at 859. Thus, although Joe was present for Melanie’s death and participated in the destruction of her body—facts he admitted at trial and for which he has accepted full responsibility—this was Payne’s crime. Payne and Lee brought Melanie to the party. Payne attempted to rape her and when she resisted, Payne convinced Lee to put ecstasy in her drink. Payne strangled Melanie and hit her with a wrench. Payne had sex with Melanie’s body. And Payne lit the fuse that ensured that even if Melanie had still been alive, she would not survive his attack. The words of the South

⁴ Dr. Joel Sexton, the forensic pathologist who conducted the autopsy, testified that as between the three possible causes—strangulation, drug overdose, or explosive device—it was a “coin toss,” “fifty/fifty” how Melanie died. R. 142. Joe included in his parole packet an affidavit from Dr. Sexton reaffirming this aspect of his testimony. R. 29-30. When questioned by law enforcement, the three boys all initially lied about their involvement with Melanie’s death. Joe acknowledges, and deeply regrets, that had he been truthful sooner, the Richeys would have been spared the additional pain of not knowing what happened to Melanie. R. 89.

⁵ The only discrepancy between Joe’s testimony and Lee’s testimony was the precise timing of Melanie’s death. Joe testified, consistent with his statements to law enforcement, that Melanie was dead when Payne took her out of the car, whereas Lee testified that although Melanie was unconscious he thought he still felt a pulse. *Compare Payne*, 355 S.C. at 646, 586 S.E.2d at 859 (“After Payne strangled the victim, . . . [Joe] testified that the victim was dead.”) *with id.* (“After Payne strangled the victim, Lee testified that the victim was still alive.”).

Carolina Supreme Court bear repeating: the evidence “overwhelmingly proves that Payne murdered [Melanie].” *Payne*, 355 S.C. at 646, 586 S.E.2d at 859. Lee has been free for nearly twenty years, and on March 20, 2019, the Board paroled Payne, leaving Joe—the youngest of the three—the only codefendant still incarcerated.

II. The Contents of Joe’s Most Recent Parole Packet

Before Joe’s last parole hearing in November 2019, he submitted written materials to the Board. He also appeared before the Board with two attorneys, a clinical psychologist with expertise in risk assessments, and four supporters who were prepared to discuss his release plans. Joe presented the following information.

Joe was still a teenager when he entered the Department of Corrections. During his twenty-five-year incarceration, he has taken advantage of every opportunity to express his profound remorse for his role in Melanie’s death and to demonstrate his maturity and readiness to resume his place in society. For example, Joe has a strong work ethic, with an employment history stretching back to when he first entered SCDC in 1994. R. 31. He has also taken advantage of every available educational opportunity, including earning his GED, R. 35; graduating from the highly selective faith-based Columbia International University (CIU) Prison Initiative Program with 100% attendance, a 4.0 GPA; and an Associate’s Degree in Biblical Studies, R. 39-41; and graduating in December 2019 from CIU with a Bachelor’s of Science Degree in General Studies and a concentration in Business Administration, R. 21, 56, 62.⁶ He is one of only five CIU graduates ever to have

⁶ Within a year of his incarceration, Joe earned his GED, scoring so high that (top five percent of test-takers that year) he received a letter of commendation from the State Superintendent of Education. R. 35-36. He went on to earn his diploma from CIU. R. 39. In the words of Professor Stephen Baarendse, who taught Joe at CIU, Joe is “a fine example of rehabilitation in prison . . .

obtained a bachelor's degree while incarcerated.⁷ R. 62. Joe is also a spiritual and service leader in the SCDC community, with too many certificates and awards to list. R. 62. After serving as a Chaplain's Assistant and finishing JumpStart's rehabilitation program with its highest level of certification, he is now part of JumpStart's Leadership Training Program.⁸ R. 31-32, 43-44.

However, perhaps the best testament to Joe's rehabilitation is his work with hospice and the Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU). At Lee and Kirkland Correctional Institutions, Joe volunteered with hospice service, providing terminally ill inmates with physical and emotional support at the ends of their lives. R. 21, 48, 62. When he was transferred to Broad River in 2016, he was eligible to serve as an Inmate Mental Health Companion in the CSU, where he is "responsible for observing crisis inmates with the directive of

who during his time in prison lived with integrity and served his fellow prisoners and supervisors well." R. 42. Grace Dye, the Assistant Director of the CIU program who has known Joe for six years, wrote a letter on her own behalf urging this Board to grant Joe parole:

[Joe] is by far one of the gentlest and most determined men I've ever met. . . . Mr. Joseph Kelsey would be an excellent candidate for parole based on the maturity and character I've seen consistently displayed in his life over the years that I have known him. Mr. Kelsey is the kind of man I would want for a neighbor and believe our community would be better for having him as part of it.

R. 45.

⁷ Even after Joe was denied parole in 2019, he did not stop seeking to better himself. In early 2020, he enrolled in a Master's Degree program at Adams State University in Denver, Colorado, and is currently pursuing his Master's in Business Administration. Since the abolition of post-secondary education funding for inmates, Joe is one of only a few inmates in South Carolina to ever seek an advanced degree while incarcerated.

⁸ His mentor at Broad River, Mr. Gary R. Minion, explained that Joe is "passionate in his commitment to his God, seeking to improve himself since his incarceration, and demonstrates care for fellow residence [sic]." R. 32. And his mentor in the JumpStart Leadership Training program, Mac Ogburn, describes Joe as having been "one of the outstanding leaders in the program from the very beginning," by "tak[ing] the initiative to embrace the program and its values and giv[ing] guidance to many in the program." R. 33.

providing emotional support, modeling positive behaviors, and alerting relevant staff if medical care is needed or behavioral concerns are noted.” R. 46. As of October 2019, Joe had provided emergency counsel to 243 inmates over the course of more than 1500 hours.⁹

Joe also presented the Board with a viable release plan based on the full support of his father, step-mother, mother, siblings, and fiancée. He had four outstanding offers of employment and multiple reliable housing plans.¹⁰ R. 64. Moreover, the undisputed evidence before the Board established that Joe is a very low risk for reoffending. He has no violent disciplinary convictions during his entire twenty-five year incarceration, which

⁹ As a volunteer with the Crisis Stabilization Unit at Broad River Correctional Institute and Kirkland Correctional R&E Institute, Joe was selected as one of three spokespeople for the program during the filming of a television report on the CSU’s successes, demonstrating the trust and confidence SCDC leadership places in Joe. The CSU’s success has been widely praised in the local media. *See, e.g.*, R. 47. Joe has received multiple commendations, including one from Director of SCDC Bryan Stirling, “for his devoted and enthusiastic service to the program.” R. 50-51. The manager of the CSU, Paul Dennis, described Joe as displaying “exemplary patience, understanding, and compassion.” R. 54. Another supervisor and mental health professional at the CSU, C. Austin Edmundson, has noted that Joe, if released, “would be successful” because he “has all of the characteristics to be a positive and impactful member of the community.” R. 46. And Ann-Marie Elwood, RN, who also works with Joe at the CSU, wrote that she has “witnessed first-hand Mr. Kelsey give up his personal time to assist and pray with inmates in their time of great need.” Ms. Elwood opined that “Mr. Kelsey should be given the chance to re-enter society and be a productive member of the community.” R. 55.

Joe has continued his work with the CSU since his 2019 parole hearing. As of mid-December 2020, he has provided emergency counsel to 269 inmates spanning more 1900 hours. And with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic and rapid spread of the disease at Broad River, institutional staff have relied on Joe more than ever. Since the CSU went into quarantine in July, Joe is one of only two inmates trusted to continue constant monitoring of inmates in the CSU under strict safety conditions that include bi-weekly nasal swab tests. Joe has also been tasked with cleaning and sanitizing the entire CSU and with distributing meals. In November 2020, Joe was appointed by the Unit Manager to serve on the Inmate Representative Committee (IRC), a panel that serves as a liaison between prison administration, including the warden, and the inmate population.

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