STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

FEB 16 2021

SC Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court  
The Honorable H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge  
Docket Number 18-ALJ-15-0039-AP

---

Appellant Case No.: 2020-001473

---

JOSEPH KELSEY, #217218.....APPELLANT

v.

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND  
PARDON SERVICES.....RESPONDENT

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**Matthew C. Buchanan  
General Counsel**

**South Carolina Department of Probation,  
Parole and Pardon Services  
P.O. Box 207  
Columbia, South Carolina 20202  
(803) 734-9220**

**ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT**

**

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

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. The ALC does not have the authority to grant parole, and did not err when it determined that it lacked the authority to grant parole.**

Appellant argues that the ALC has broad powers to remedy unlawful agency action and may grant the relief sought – including releasing an inmate to parole. This is incorrect. The ALC can only consider parole eligibility cases involving the permanent denial of that eligibility or involving whether the procedure employed by the Board effectively abrogates the inmate's right to parole eligibility, and must summarily dismiss appeals from the routine denial of parole. Consequently, the ALC did not err when it dismissed the appeal, but the ALC did err when it ruled upon the Board's decision-making and conclusions.

**a. The ALC cannot overturn the Board's denial of parole.**

Appellant makes the claim that the ALC has the power to remedy an agency decision which includes the granting of parole. This is simply not correct.

Appellant relies heavily on *Rose v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 429 S.C. 136, 838 S.E.2d 505 (2020) when making this assertion that the ALC may summarily grant parole to an inmate who has been routinely denied parole by the Board. But *Rose* is easily distinguishable from the matter at hand.

Inmate David Rose alleged that he received four votes in favor of parole at a 2000 hearing after the Supreme Court decision of *Barton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 404 S.C. 395, 745 S.E.2d 110 (2013). Rose supplied an affidavit from his cousin who attended the hearing, which stated that an unnamed Department employee told him that Rose received four votes at the conclusion of the hearing. *Rose* at 140, 507. While the Department argued that this was not sufficient evidence to warrant the remedial granting of parole, the ALC disagreed. *Id.* at 141, 508. Because Department records could not refute Rose's cousin's claims, the ALC concluded, Rose should be considered to have received parole at that hearing in 2000. The Supreme Court ultimately agreed. *Id.*

In this case, there is no dispute over the number of votes Appellant received, nor that they result in the denial of parole under the parameters recognized in *Barton*. The Board denied parole, and the Appellant asked the ALC to overturn the Board's decision.

The ALC was correct when it concluded that it lacked the authority to reverse the Board's decision and grant parole. Appellant is equating the decision in *Rose*, which involved a disputed vote count and an alleged receipt of the proper number of votes, to the matter at hand wherein he

simply disagrees with the Board's clear decision to deny parole. *Rose* resulted in a remedial grant of parole based on evidence of a favorable vote count in 2000, whereas the present case was properly dismissed because the ALC lacks the authority to reverse a routine denial of parole.

Appellant argues that the ALC has the statutory role of providing a neutral forum for administrative hearings and to protect the separation of powers principle in agency decision-making. (App. Brief, P. 19). He refers to Chief Justice Toal's dissent in *Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't'l Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 53-55, 766 S.E.2d 707, 728-729 (2014). However, Justice Toal notes that *Kiawah* "concerns a 'contested case,' one of several classes of proceedings the ALC is authorized to conduct." *Id.* at 54, 728. Appellant is not appealing a contested case, however. In fact, a decision to grant parole is not a ruling in favor of one party over another. Instead, it is a determination that, to the satisfaction of the Board, the inmate is entitled to parole. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640. Furthermore, the Board did not act outside its statutory delegation – it denied Appellant parole. The Board is the sole determiner of what inmates may receive parole.<sup>4</sup>

The ALC's authority to review decisions by the Parole Board is extremely limited. Only when the Department makes a decision permanently denying parole eligibility or when the Board's procedure effectively abrogates the inmate's right to parole eligibility does the decision qualify for review by the ALC. *Furtick v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 374 S.C. 334, 339, 649 S.E.2d 35, 38 (2007). In *Furtick*, the Supreme Court extended *Al-Shabazz*<sup>5</sup> to parole eligibility decisions while emphasizing the difference between a final decision and a temporary granting or denial of parole by the Parole Board.

---

<sup>4</sup> "[N]o such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board..." S.C. Code 24-21-640.

<sup>5</sup> *Al-Shabazz v. State*, 338 S.C. 354, 369, 527 S.E.2d 742, 750 (2000).

Appellant's parole has not been permanently denied. He will have another parole hearing scheduled later in 2021, two years after his 2019 parole hearing.<sup>6</sup> Consequently, the ALC had no other choice but to dismiss the appeal without editorializing about purported levels of culpability or opining over which co-defendant should have received parole.

**b. The ALC erred by not summarily dismissing the appeal.**

Appellant argues that the ALC properly conducted a full review of the Board's decision and its conclusions. The Respondent disagrees and would argue that the ALC erred when it did not summarily dismiss the appeal and instead rendered unnecessary, irrelevant, and improper conclusions about the Board's decision.

The Respondent respectfully submits that the ALC has no authority to review parole denials. "An administrative law judge shall not hear ... an appeal involving the denial of parole to a potentially eligible inmate by the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services." S.C. Code § 1-23-600(D). See also *Furtick*, 374 S.C. at 339, 649 S.E.2d at 38.

The ALC may also review parole appeals in which the procedure employed by the Board may have an adverse impact on an inmate's rights to a parole hearing. In *Cooper v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole and Pardon Servs.*, 377 S.C. 489, 500, 661 S.E.2d 106, 112 (2008), the Court reviewed an allegation that the Board was not following the procedure established by Section 24-21-640 or the board-created criteria for parole consideration. (R.p.6).

The Court determined the matter would be remedied by the Board stating clearly that it had considered the required factors before rendering its decision regarding parole. The Court stated,

---

<sup>6</sup> See S.C. Code 24-21-645(D) "However, upon a negative determination of parole, prisoners in confinement for a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60 must have their cases reviewed every two years for the purpose of a determination of parole."

“We emphasize that ... if [the Parole Board] clearly states in its order denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24-21-640 and the fifteen factors published in its parole form... the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC would have limited authority to review the decision to determine whether the Board followed proper procedure.” *Cooper* at 500, 661 S.E.2d at 112.

This holding was further clarified by the Supreme Court in *Compton v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole and Pardon Servs.*, 385 S.C. 476, 684 S.E.2d 175 (2009). “We emphasized that ... if the Parole Board clearly states in its order denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24–21–640 and the fifteen factors published in Form 1212, and that if the Parole Board complies with this procedure, the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC will have limited authority to review the decision.” *Id.* at 479, 177.

In this case, the order denying parole includes the statement that the Board considered the factors in *Cooper*. It stated that, “[a]fter careful consideration of: (1) the characteristics of your current offense(s), prior offense(s), prior supervision history, prison disciplinary record, and/or prior criminal record, as described in the findings of fact below; (2) the factors published in Department Form 1212 (Criteria for Parole Consideration); (3) the factors outlined in Section 24-21-640 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, and (4) actuarial risk and needs assessment factors pursuant to Section 24-21-10(F)(1) of the South Carolina Code of Laws.” (R.p.5).

Clearly, the Board followed this instruction from *Cooper*, but the ALC refused to dismiss the matter without conducting a full analysis. Only after improperly reviewing an exhaustive record and coming to a different conclusion about the merits than the Board, did the ALC appropriately dismiss the appeal because it lacked the authority to reverse the Board’s decision. While it was correct in the end, the ALC erred by conducting the analysis in the first place.

**II. The ALC erred when it determined that the Parole Board acted arbitrarily and capriciously.**

Appellant argues that the ALC's finding that the Board acted arbitrarily and capriciously requires this Court to reverse its dismissal and require the Board to grant him parole. The Respondent respectfully submits that this Court should uphold the ALC's ultimate decision that it lacks the authority to reverse the Board's decision, but this Court should also determine that the ALC erred by finding that the Board acted arbitrarily and capriciously.

By not dismissing the appeal because of *Cooper* and *Compton* (discussed in Part I.b.), the ALC conducted an inappropriate analysis of the Board's decision-making process. It erred when it reviewed the materials put forth by Appellant's counsel and supporters, and it erred when it reviewed the parole information of Appellant's co-defendant.

Most importantly, the ALC erred when it forgot the axiomatic rule that *no inmate has a right to parole*. *Sullivan v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 355 S.C. 437, 443 n. 4, 586 S.E.2d 124, 127 N. 4 (2003). By comparing Appellant and his record to the co-defendant and his record, and considering that the co-defendant had been granted parole, the ALC erred when it ruled that Appellant was similarly owed parole. It therefore concluded that the Board had acted arbitrarily and capriciously when it failed to grant parole to Appellant when it granted parole to the co-defendant.

South Carolina law regarding parole is clear. Parole is a privilege, not a right, and an inmate may not be paroled "until it appears *to the satisfaction of the board*" that the inmate is deserving of parole. S.C. Code §24-21-640 (emphasis added).

By trying to compare the circumstances of two different individuals presented at two different times to two different sets of Board members, and then weighing in on the worthiness of parole for Appellant and his co-defendant, the ALC invites constant scrutiny in endless appeals by

inmates with co-defendants themselves, or even inmates with merely similar criminal offenses. The ALC erred by considering Appellant to be deserving of parole (or his co-defendant to be unworthy) when it is simply not its place to do so. The ALC may only intervene when the limited liberty interest to parole hearings is interrupted; it may not intervene when the Board elects to deny parole at a single parole hearing. S.C. Code § 1-23-600(D).

Consequently, this Court, while upholding the final decision by the ALC, should also remind the ALC that it cannot substitute its judgment for that of the Board, and its analysis should be reserved for considering the permanent denial of parole or the effective abrogation of the right to parole eligibility rather than a routine denial of parole.

**III. The ALC erred when it determined that SCDPPPS made factual findings inconsistent with facts as recognized by the Supreme Court.**

Appellant claims that the Board exceeded its authority by denying parole when it used the nature and seriousness of the offense as its grounds for denial. This is an incredible claim, both because the Parole Board is the *sole* body vested with the authority to grant or deny parole, and because the nature and seriousness of Appellant's offense is without question.

Appellant places great weight on the fact that the Supreme Court intimated in a pair of cases<sup>7</sup> that the Appellant's co-defendant was the primary actor. Appellant overreaches, however, when he tries to use the fact that the Supreme Court, when considering a *Strickland* analysis<sup>8</sup> in a PCR appeal<sup>9</sup>, somehow restricts the Parole Board to only granting parole because his purportedly more culpable co-defendant was granted parole.

---

<sup>7</sup> *Payne v. State*, 355 S.C. 642, 586 S.E.2d 857 (2003) and *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998).

<sup>8</sup> *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

<sup>9</sup> *Payne v. State*, 355 S.C. at 645, 586 S.E.2d at 859.

As set forth by our Legislature, “The board must carefully consider the record of the prisoner before, during, and after imprisonment, and no such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board: that the prisoner has shown a disposition to reform; that in the future he will probably obey the law and lead a correct life; that by his conduct he has merited a lessening of the rigors of his imprisonment; that the interest of society will not be impaired thereby; and that suitable employment has been secured for him.” S.C. Code §24-21-640. It is solely the Board’s authority to grant or deny parole. At no point in the opinions in *Kelsey* and *Payne* did the Court speak on when and if Payne or Appellant should be awarded parole.

Furthermore, as pointed out in Justice Pleicones’ concurrence in *Payne*, “In the present case petitioner and his codefendant (Kelsey) presented antagonistic defenses in which each blamed the other for killing the victim.” *Id.* at 647, 860. Consequently, the facts are not as set in stone as the Appellant would like this Court to believe. The one fact that matters is the one found by the jury – that the victim was murdered by both Payne and Appellant.

The ALC further erred when it considered the transcript of Payne’s parole hearing for the self-serving statement from Payne’s attorney regarding who was the “trigger man.” Payne’s attorneys argued for parole for their client and suggested that the Board could deny Appellant parole in order to satisfy the victims’ wishes. (R.p.91) . Even though ultimately the Board denied Appellant at a later parole hearing, this does not mean the Board reached some sort of understanding with Payne’s attorneys. Most notably, the Board also heard from Appellant’s attorneys that *Payne* was the “trigger man,” and because he received parole then Appellant should as well. R. at \*. Three Board members voted in favor of parole; it’s only because two voted against parole that Appellant did not receive the requisite number of votes for parole. Consequently, this was a routine denial based on valid votes cast by individual Board members.

As stated above, the Board's decision to deny parole is not reviewable by the ALC. The ALC's limited authority to review a Board's decision is only to determine if it followed proper procedure. *Cooper* at 500, 112. The Board is not required nor should it be expected to be aware of every PCR or appellate opinion relating to an inmate before it decides to grant or deny parole, unless that opinion directly relates to the inmate's parole eligibility.

The Supreme Court's determination in *Payne* was that, under a *Strickland* analysis, the evidence overwhelmingly proved guilt so as to outweigh prejudice over Payne's attorney not object to a comment about Payne not testifying made by his co-defendant's attorney. *Payne* at 645, 586 S.E.2d at 859. The Board's decision to not grant parole to Appellant was no more an infringement on the Supreme Court's role than the Supreme Court's ruling was an infringement upon the Board's authority over parole. Appellant's efforts to conflate the two should be considered meritless.

**IV. The ALC erred when it determined that SCDPPPS should provide inmates access to their parole files.**

Appellant asserts that inmates should be able to review the material that is gathered by the Department and provided to the Parole Board. The ALC agreed with this position, although the ALC determined that the supplemental record supplied by Appellant provided ample material for review. The Respondent submits that the ALC's limited role in reviewing routine denials of parole renders the need for a full review of the Department's parole file unnecessary. Inmates do not have a right to review their parole files because, as explained above, parole hearings are not truly contested hearings.

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